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RECOVMENDED ORDER

This case canme before Larry J. Sartin, an Adm nistrative
Law Judge of the Division of Admi nistrative Hearings, on a
factual record stipulated to by the parties.
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Mam, Florida 33331-2156

STATEMENT OF THE | SSUES

The issues in this case are whet her Respondent, Edgar

Zanmora, MD., conmmitted a violation of Chapter 458, Florida



Statutes (2005), as alleged in an Arended Adm nistrative
Conpl ai nt i ssued by Petitioner, the Departnent of Health and, if
so, what disciplinary action should be taken against his |license
to practice nedicine in the State of Florida.

PRELI M NARY STATEMENT

On or about May 26, 2006, the Departnent of Health issued
an Adm nistrative Conplaint in DOH Case No. 2004-03514 agai nst
Edgar Zanora, M D., an individual licensed to practice nedicine
in Florida, in which it alleged that Respondent had commtted a
violation of Section 458.331(1)(c), Florida Statutes (2005). On
June 21, 2006, the Departnment of Health issued a Corrected
Adm ni strative Conplaint alleging the sane statutory violation.

Respondent, through counsel, filed an Election of R ghts
formon July 14, 2006, in which he disputed the allegations of
fact contained in the Corrected Adm nistrative Conplaint and
requested a formal administrative hearing pursuant to Section
120.569(2)(a), Florida Statutes (2006).

Pursuant to an Order issued by the Board of Medicine on
Oct ober 16, 2006, the matter was filed with the D vision of
Adm ni strative Hearings on March 28, 2007, wth a request that
an adm ni strative | aw judge be assigned the case to conduct
proceedi ngs pursuant to Section 120.57(1), Florida Statutes
(2006). The matter was designated DOAH Case Number 07- 1454PL

and was assigned to the undersigned.



The final hearing was schedul ed by a Notice of Hearing by
Vi deo Tel econference entered April 4, 2007, for May 25, 2007.

On April 4, 2007, a Mdtion to Anend Adm nistrative
Complaint was filed. That Mdtion was granted by Order entered
April 16, 2007.

Fol  owi ng the scheduling of the final hearing, the parties
filed a nunber of notions which ultimte |ed to a pre-hearing
conference, held by tel ephone. Those notions include
Petitioner's Mdtion for Pre-Hearing Conference, Respondent's
Unopposed Modtion for Continuance of My 25, 2007 Video
Tel econf erence Hearing, Respondent's Mtion for Stay of
Proceedi ngs Pendi ng Qut cone of Federal Appeal, and Petitioner's
Response to Mdtion for Stay of Proceedi ngs Pendi ng Qutcone of
Federal Appeal and Petitioner's Request for a Tel ephonic Hearing
on the Merits of the Case.

The pre-hearing conference was conducted on April 18, 2007.
During the pre-hearing conference, which effectively granted
Petitioner's Motion for Pre-Hearing Conference, Respondent's
Motion for Stay of Proceedi ngs Pendi ng Qut cone of Federal Appea
was denied. It was agreed, however, that the final hearing
woul d be cancelled and that the matter woul d proceed to
resol ution upon a stipulated record. Exactly how the matter
woul d proceed was to be agreed to by the parties and reported to

t he under si gned.



Fol |l owi ng the pre-hearing conference, an Order Canceling
Hearing was entered. 1In addition to canceling the May 25, 2007,
hearing, the parties were ordered to "advise the undersigned in
witing no later than May 1, 2007, as to the status of this
matter."

On May 1, 2007, Petitioner filed a Joint Response to
Scheduling Order. Petitioner reported the foll ow ng:

1. The parties agree that the attached
certified copies of the Indictnment, Jury
Verdi ct of Conviction, and Sentencing in the
case of 04-20059CR-JORDAN in the United
States District Court, Southern District of
Fl orida, are admi ssible without nore in the
above-styl ed cause.

2. The parties agree that this case can
be heard without a formal hearing. The
parties have further agreed that either
affidavits or deposition of experts as
needed will be filed on June 5, 2007.

3. Petitioner is authorized to file this
response by Respondent.

Respondent did not file a response to the Joint Response to
Schedul i ng Order or otherw se indicate disagreenent with
Petitioner's representations.

Petitioner filed certified copies of the Indictnent, Jury
Verdi ct of Conviction, and Sentencing in the case of 06-20059CR-
JORDAN in the United States District Court, Southern District of

Fl ori da.



On May 2, 2007, a Scheduling Order was entered. Pursuant
to this Order, the Indictnment, Conviction, and Sentence were
admtted as evidence. Additionally, the parties were given
until June 5, 2007, to file either affidavits or depositions of
experts (addressing the issue of whether the crinme for which
Respondent was convicted was a crinme which directly related to
the practice of nmedicine or to the ability to practice
medi ci ne), and to June 15, 2007, to file proposed recomended
orders.

Consi stent with the agreenent of the parties and the
Schedul ing Order, on June 5, 2007, Petitioner filed an Affidavit
of John P. Mahoney, M D. (hereinafter referred to as
"Dr. Mahoney's Affidavit"). Dr. Mhoney's Affidavit is hereby
adm tted as evidence. No affidavit or deposition has been filed
by Respondent.

On June 15, 2007, a Friday, in conformance with the
Scheduling Order, Petitioner filed Petitioner's Proposed
Recommended Order. Respondent did not file Respondent's
Proposed Reconmended Order until 8:13 a.m, Mnday, June 18,
2007. That sane day, Petitioner filed a Motion to Strike
Respondent's Proposed Reconmended Order arguing that it had been
prejudi ced "by Respondent's late filing because it [gave] the
Respondent the opportunity to review Petitioner's proposed

recommended order and include responses to it in Respondent's



proposed recommended order." As an alternative to striking
Respondent's Proposed Recomrended Order, Petitioner requested
that it not be considered in preparing this Recomended O der.
On June 19, 2007, Respondent filed Respondent's Response in
Opposition to Motion to Stri ke Respondent's Proposed Recomrended
Order, or Alternative Motion to Permit Filing One-Day Qut of
Time. Counsel for Respondent represented that he had prepared
t he proposed recommended order on Thursday, June 14, 2007, and
that, due to his absence fromthe office the next day, it was
not filed until June 18, 2007. Counsel also represented that he
had not reviewed Petitioner's Proposed Recormended Order or even
been aware of it at the tinme Respondent proposal was fil ed.
Al'l owm ng Respondent to present argunent in this matter is a
fundanmental right. Therefore, to inpose any sanction on
Respondent for filing his proposed order late, it nust be
concl uded that there has been actually prejudice to Petitioner
caused by Respondent's actions. Gven the fact that Petitioner
has only all eged that Respondent had the "opportunity” to review
Petitioner's proposal, while counsel for Respondent has
represented unequivocally that he did not do so, it appears
there was no actual prejudice. To substantiate this concl usion,
however, both pl eadi ngs have been reviewed. Based upon that
review, it is concluded that Petitioner has not been prejudiced

by Respondent's late filing of its proposed recommended order.



Consequently, Petitioner's Mdition to Strike Respondent's
Proposed Recommended Order is denied and Respondent's
Alternative Mdtion to Permt Filing One-Day Qut of Tine is
gr ant ed.

| nconsi stent with the agreenent of the parties and the
Order Canceling Hearing and the Scheduling Order entered in this
case, Respondent filed on June 19, 2007, Respondent's Subm ssion
in Opposition to Allegations of Arended Adm ni strative Conpl ai nt
and Petitioner's Proffer, and, on June 19, 2007, Respondent's
Statement of Mtigation and, on June 25, 2007, Respondent's
Noti ce of Subm ssion of Sentencing Materials Filed in Underlying
Federal Court Case for Mtigation Consideration. Neither of the
submttals nor the Statenent of Mtigati on was agreed to by the
parties or requested by the undersigned. Petitioner filed
notions to strike the two submttals.

In lieu of striking Respondent's late submttals, by Order
entered July 9, 2007, Petitioner was given an opportunity to
respond to the late, unagreed-upon pleadings on or before
July 25, 2007. On July 13, 2007, Petitioner filed Petitioner's
Response to Respondent's Subm ssions. The Response has been
fully considered in entering this Reconmended Order. Having
given Petitioner an opportunity to respond to Respondent's
unsolicited submttals, Petitioner's request to strike

Respondent's Subm ssion in Qpposition to Allegations of Anended



Adm ni strative Conplaint and Petitioner's Proffer and
Respondent’'s Notice of Subm ssion of Sentencing Materials Filed
in Underlying Federal Court Case for Mtigation Consideration is
denied. The submittals have been fully considered in rendering
t his Recomended Order

On July 16, 2007, Respondent filed Respondent's Mdtion to
Strike Petitioner's Late-Filed Notice of Filing Anended
Adm nistrative Conplaint. Petitioner filed a Response to this
Motion. After due consideration, the Mdtion to Strike is
deni ed.

Consistent with the agreenent reached by the parties, both
parties filed proposed orders for consideration in entering this
Recommended Order. Those pl eadi ngs have been fully consi dered.

FI NDI NGS OF FACT

A. The Parti es.

1. Petitioner, the Departnent of Health (hereinafter
referred to as the "Departnent”), is the agency of the State of
Fl orida charged with the responsibility for the investigation
and prosecution of conplaints involving physicians licensed to
practice nedicine in Florida. 8 20.43 and Chs. 456 and 458,
Fla. Stat. (2006).

2. Respondent, Edgar Zanora, MD., is, and was at al

times material to this matter, a physician |icensed to practice



nmedicine in Florida pursuant to Chapter 458, Florida Statutes,
havi ng been issued |icense nunber ME 68598.

B. The Indictnent and Convicti on.

3. On or about January 27, 2004, Dr. Zanora was i ndicted
inthe United States District Court, Southern District of

Fl ori da, Case No. 06-20059CR-JORDAN, United States of Anerica v.

Hel dy Artiles, et al., on one count of Conspiracy to commt

of fenses against the United States, in violation of Section 18
US C 8§ 731 (Count 1), and one count of Health Care Fraud, in
violation of Section 18 U.S.C. § 1367 (Count 7)(hereinafter
referred to as the "Indictnent").

4. The Indictnent provides the followi ng identification of
Dr. Zanor a:

5. Defendant EDGAR ZAMORA was a nedi ca
doctor licensed to practice nedicine in the
State of Florida. He was enployed by M am
Health as the clinic's doctor fromin or
around March 2000 through in or around June
2000.

5. In Count 1 of Indictnment, it is alleged that Dr. Zanora
and the other naned defendants commtted Health Care Fraud
Conspi racy agai nst "Medicare and Private |Insurance Conpanies, in
connection with the delivery of and paynent for health care
benefits, itenms, and services” in order to "enrich thensel ves”

in the foll ow ng manner:

(a) submitting false and fraudul ent clains
to health care benefit progranms; (b) paying



ki ckbacks and bri bes to Medicare
beneficiaries and Pl P-insured individuals so
that they would serve as fictitious
patients, thereby furthering the billing
fraud schene; (c) concealing the subm ssion
of fraudulent clains to health care benefit
progranms, the receipt and transfer of fraud
proceeds, and the paynent of kickbacks; and
(d) diverting fraud proceeds for the

def endant s’ personal use and benefit.

Page 11 of the Indictnent.
6. The Indictnent alleges the follow ng facts concerning
t he Medi care Program

25. The Medi care Program (" Medicare") was
a federal programthat provided free or
bel ow-cost health care benefits to certain
i ndividuals, primarily the elderly, blind
and di sabl ed. The benefits avail abl e under
Medi care are prescribed by statute and by
federal regul ations under auspices of the
United States Departnent of Health and Human
Services, through its agency, the Centers
for Medicare and Medicaid Services ("CM").
| ndi vi dual s who receive benefits are
referred to as beneficiaries.

26. Medicare was a "health care benefit
program" as defined by Title 18, United
St ates Code, Section 24(Db).

27. Part B of the Medicare Programwas a
medi cal insurance programthat covered,
anmong ot her things, certain physician
services, nedical testing, nedications, and
dur abl e nedi cal equi pnent. Durable nedica
equi pnent, or "DME," is equipnent that is
desi gned for repeated use and for a nedical
pur pose, such as a knee or back brace,
nebul i zer, or oxygen concentrator.

28. The Medicare Part B Program was

adm nistered in the State of Florida by two
entities, Palnetto Governnment Benefits

10



Adm nistrators ("PGBA") and Bl ue Cross/Bl ue
Shield of Florida ("BC/ BS"), both of which
were private health insurance carriers that
contracted with HCFA to recei ve, adjudicate,
and pay Medicare Part B clainms. PGBA
processed and paid clains for DVE and

rel ated supplies, including the associated
nmedi cati ons. BC/ BS processed and paid
clainms for physician and nedical clinic
servi ces and di agnostic tests.

Pages 5 and 6 of the Indictnent.
7. In part, the Indictnment describes the follow ng
Medi care billing procedures:

29. Qualified DME or pharnaceutical
conpani es who supplied nedi cal equi pnment or
medi cations in connection with the Medicare
program applied for and were given a
"supplier nunber.” The supplier nunber
al | oned DVE suppliers and pharnmaceuti cal
conpani es to seek rei nbursenent for nedica
equi pment and nedi cations that they had
supplied to Medi care beneficiaries.

30. Medical clinics or doctors who
provi ded services in connection with the
Medi care program applied for and were given
a "provider nunber,"” which allowed themto
seek reinbursenent for nedical services that
they had provided to Medicare beneficiaries.

31. In order to receive paynent from
Medi care, a participating DVE or
pharmaceutical supplier was required to
submit a health insurance claimform known
as a Form HCFA- 1500 ("HCFA 1500"), and/or an
El ectronic Media Claim ("EMC'), which set
forth, anong other things, the beneficiary's
name and uni que Medicare identification
nunber, the nane and identification nunber
of the doctor who ordered the item or
medi cation, the itemor nedication that was
supplied, the date of service, and the
charge for the itemor nedication

11



32. Likewise, in order for participating
medi cal clinics and doctors to receive
paynent form Medi care, the providers were
required to submt a HCFA 1500, and/or EMC
whi ch set forth, anong other things, the
beneficiary's name and uni que Medicare
identification nunber, the date of service,
a description of the nedical procedures and
services provided to the patient, the
physi ci an who perforned or ordered the
procedures or services, and the anpunt
charged for each procedure and service.

33. Medicare, through BC/ BS and PGBA,
woul d general ly pay 80% of the allowed cost
for medical services, DME, and nedications
that were nedically; necessary and ordered
by |icensed doctors or other qualified
heal th care providers.

34. Paynents under the Medicare program
were often made directly to the doctor or
ot her provider or supplier of the nedical
goods or services rather than to the
pati ent/beneficiary. For this to occur, the
beneficiary was required to assign the right
of paynent to the provider or supplier.
Thereafter, the provider or supplier assuned
responsibility for submtting its bil
directly to Medi care and obtaining paynent.

35. From January 1997 through March 2000,
Mam Health Billed Medicare electronically
by EMC under its assigned Medicare provider
nunber, 40779. In or around March 2000,

M am Health was suspended by the Medicare
Program after which Mam Health billed
Medi care by EMC using the Medicare provider
nunber assigned to the doctor that was
working at the clinic at the time. Fromin
or around March 2000 through in or around
June 2000, Mam Health billed Medicare
under the provider nunber assigned to EDGAR
ZAMORA, 27247.

12



Pages 6 through 8 of the Indictnent.
8. Wth regard to Dr. Zanora, the Indictnent alleges the
"manner and neans of the conspiracy" consisted of the foll ow ng:

12. GUI LLERMO GARCI A, EDGAR ZAMORA, and
JOSE GARRI DO signhed the altered, typed
doctor notes and prescriptions, know ng that
the notes and prescriptions had been changed
and called for nedically unnecessary tests,
t herapy, nedications, and DME, and, in sone
cases, knowi ng that the altered notes
reflected office visits that had not
occurred.

Page 13 of the Indictnent.

9. Finally, as to Count 1, Dr. Zanora is alleged to have
committed the follow ng "overt acts"”™ with regard to "Car
Accident Patient N.R":

27. On or about June 19, 2000, EDGAR
ZAMORA signed a typed final exam nation
medi cal report concerning staged acci dent
patient N.R, know ng that the typed note
i ncluded fal se patient diagnoses and also a
disability rating of 4% that had been
fabricated by HELDY ARTILES.

Page 18 of the Indictnent.

10. As to Count 7 of the Indictnent, it was charged that
Dr. Zanora and the other naned defendants "in connection with
t he delivery of and paynent for health care benefits, itens, and

services," comritted Health Care Fraud agai nst Medicare by:

(a) submtting or causing to submt false
and fraudulent clainms to Medicare and the
Private | nsurance Conpanies for the costs of
medi cal tests, nedical equipnent, therapy,

13



and nedi cations; (b) paying kickbacks to
Medi care beneficiaries and Pl P-insured
patients so that they would serve as
patients, thereby furthering the fraudul ent
billing schenme; (c) concealing the
subm ssion of false and fraudulent clains to
Medi care and the Private |Insurance
Compani es; and (d) diverting fraud proceeds
for the defendants' personal use and
benefit.
Page 25 of the Indictnent.
11. In particular, Dr. Zanora was alleged to have
committed Health Care Fraud agai nst Medicare by using his
Medi care health care provider nunber when he submitted clains
related to Car Accident Patient NNR for an "[o]ffice visit, x-
rays, tests, and physical therapy . . . ." Page 26 of the
I ndi ct nent .
12. On March 26, 2005, Dr. Zanora was found guilty by jury
verdi ct of both counts agai nst himof the Indictnent.
13. On Decenber 5, 2005, United States District Judge
Adal berto Jordan adjudicated Dr. Zanora guilty of the crimnal
of fense charged against himin the Indictnment. Judge Jordan
sentenced Dr. Zanora to 27 nonths’ incarceration on both counts,

to run concurrently; two years of supervised rel ease; and

restitution of $221, 726. 96.

14



C. The Relationship of Dr. Zanora's Conviction to the

Practi ce of Medicine.

14. In light of the jury conviction on both counts of the
Indictnment relating to him it is concluded that Dr. Zanora
engaged in the activities alleged in the Indictnent. All of
those activities related to the practice of nedicine

15. But for Dr. Zanora's license to practice nedicine in
Florida, Dr. Zanora would not have been able to commt the
crinmes for which he was convicted. It was his license to
practice nedicine that facilitated his ability to work at M am
Health, to obtain a Medicare provider nunber, and to fully
participate in the Medicare program Al of the activities he
engaged in, such as signing necessary Medicare docunents and
nmedi cal records backup, were carried out in his capacity as a
i censed Florida physician.

16. The crines for which Dr. Zanora were convicted were
crinmes "which directly relates to the practice of nedicine."

D. Prior Disciplinary Action

17. Dr. Zanora has not previously been disciplined by the
Board of Medi ci ne.

CONCLUSI ONS OF LAW

A. Jurisdiction.

18. The Division of Adm nistrative Hearings has

jurisdiction over the subject matter of this proceedi ng and of

15



the parties thereto pursuant to Sections 120.569, 120.57(1), and
456. 073(5), Florida Statutes (2006).

B. The Charges of the Admi nistrative Conpl aint.

19. Section 458.331(1), Florida Statutes (2005),
aut hori zes the Board of Medicine (hereinafter referred to as the
"Board"), to inpose penalties ranging fromthe issuance of a
|l etter of concern to revocation of a physician's license to
practice nedicine in Florida if a physician conmts one or nore
acts specified therein.

20. Inits Anended Adm nistrative Conplaint, the
Department has alleged that Dr. Zanora has viol ated Section
458.331(1)(c), Florida Statutes (2005).

C. The Burden and Standard of Proof.

21. The Departnent seeks to i npose penalties against
Dr. Zanora through the Anended Adm ni strative Conpl aint that
i ncl ude suspension or revocation of his license and/or the
i mposition of an admnistrative fine. Therefore, the Departnent
has the burden of proving the specific allegations of fact that
support its charge that Dr. Zanora viol ated Section
458.331(1)(c), Florida Statutes (2005), by clear and convincing

evidence. Departnent of Banki ng and Fi nance, Division of

Securities and I nvestor Protection v. Gsborne Stern and Co., 670

So. 2d 932 (Fla. 1996); Ferris v. Turlington, 510 So. 2d 292

(Fla. 1987); Pou v. Departnent of |Insurance and Treasurer, 707

16



So. 2d 941 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998); and Section 120.57(1)(j), Florida
Statutes (2006) ("Findings of fact shall be based on a
preponderance of the evidence, except in penal or licensure
di sciplinary proceedi ngs or except as otherw se provi ded by
statute.").

22. \Wat constitutes "clear and convinci ng" evi dence was

descri bed by the court in Evans Packing Co. v. Departnent of

Agri cul ture and Consuner Services, 550 So. 2d 112, 116, n. 5

(Fla. 1st DCA 1989), as foll ows:

[C]l ear and convi nci ng evi dence
requires that the evidence nmust be found to
be credible; the facts to which the
Wi tnesses testify nust be distinctly
remenber ed; the evidence nust be precise and
explicit and the wi tnesses nust be | acking
in confusion as to the facts in issue. The
evi dence nust be of such weight that it
produces in the mnd of the trier of fact
the firmbelief or conviction, wthout
hesitancy, as to the truth of the
al | egati ons sought to be established.
Slomowitz v. Wl ker, 429 So. 2d 797, 800
(Fla. 4th DCA 1983).

See also In re Graziano, 696 So. 2d 744 (Fla. 1997); In re

Davey, 645 So. 2d 398 (Fla. 1994); and Wal ker v. Florida

Depart nent of Busi ness and Professional Regul ati on, 705 So. 2d

652 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998) (Sharp, J., dissenting).

D. Section 458.331(1)(c), Florida Statutes (2005).

23. Section 458.331(1)(c), Florida Statutes (2005),

defines the follow ng disciplinable offense:

17



(c) Being convicted or found guilty of,
or entering a plea of nolo contendere to,
regardl ess of adjudication, a crine in any
jurisdiction which directly relates to the
practice of nmedicine or to the ability to
practice nedicine.

24. |In paragraphs 18 and 19 of the Anended Adm nistrative

Complaint, it is alleged that Dr. Zanora's felony convictions

relate directly to his practice of medicine and his ability to

practice nedicine in the follow ng ways

A. Only a licensed, nedical doctor
may apply to be a Medi care provider;

B. Only a licensed, nedical doctor
may be issued a Medicare provider
nunber ;

C. Respondent is a |licensed nedical
doctor in the State of Florida and was
at all tinmes pertinent to the facts of
t he af orenenti oned i ndi ctnent;

D. Respondent applied for and
recei ved Medi care provider nunber 27247,

E. Respondent signed fal se docunents
and/or created false records for
Medi care patients, including but not
limted to: Patient NR;

F. Respondent caused to be submtted
fraudulent clains to Medicare using his
Medi care provider nunber;

G Respondent submitted, or caused to
be submtted, fal se docunents and/or
fal se records to Medicare for
rei mbursenent for his Medicare patients,
including but not limted to Medicare
beneficiaries, including patient N R
and

H.  Respondent took part in a schene
to defraud Medicare furthering the
billing fraud schene.

19. But for the fact that Respondent was

a licensed doctor in the State of Florida,
he woul d have been unable to commt the

18



crinmes for which he was conmtted. Wthout

his medical |icense, he would not have been

able to secure a Medi care provi der number,

participate in the Medicare program sign

Medi care clains forns or sign fraudul ent

medi cal records to support those claim

forms.

25. The evidence has proven clearly and convincingly that

Dr. Zanora has been convicted of crinmes that relate to his
practice of nedicine as alleged in the Arended Adm nistrative
Conmpl ai nt and described in the findings of fact section of this
Recommended Order. Dr. Zanora's convictions for Conspiracy to
Defraud the United States and for Health Care Fraud both
involved Dr. Zanora's mani pul ati on of the Medicare system His
status as a physician allowed himto apply for and obtain his
Medi care provider nunber, and it was his signature as a |licensed
physi cian on fal se nedical records and Medi care cl ainms, which he
all owed to be submtted to Medicare for reinbursenent, and which
facilitated his commtnent of the crines for which he was
convicted. These facts relate directly to Dr. Zanora's practice
of nmedicine, and they fornmed the basis for the jury's finding

Dr. Zanora guilty.

E. The Appropriate Penalty.

26. In determning the appropriate punitive action to
reconmmend to the Board in this case, it is necessary to consult

the Board's "disciplinary guidelines,” which inpose restrictions

and [imtations on the exercise of the Board' s disciplinary

19



authority under Section 458.331, Florida Statutes. See Parrot

Heads, Inc. v. Departnent of Business and Professi ona

Regul ation, 741 So. 2d 1231 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999).

27. The Board's guidelines are set out in Florida
Adm ni strative Code Rule 64B8-8.001, which provides the
foll owi ng "purpose” and instruction on the application of the
penalty ranges provided in the Rule:

(1) Purpose. Pursuant to Section 456.079,
F.S., the Board provides within this rule
di sci plinary guidelines which shall be
i nposed upon applicants or |icensees whomit
regul ates under Chapter 458, F.S. The
purpose of this rule is to notify applicants
and |icensees of the ranges of penalties
which will routinely be inposed unless the
Board finds it necessary to deviate fromthe
gui delines for the stated reasons given
within this rule. The ranges of penalties
provi ded bel ow are based upon a single count
vi ol ati on of each provision listed; multiple
counts of the violated provisions or a
conbi nation of the violations may result in
a higher penalty than that for a single,
i sol ated violation. Each range includes the
| onest and hi ghest penalty and all penalties
falling between. The purposes of the
i mposition of discipline are to punish the
applicants or licensees for violations and
to deter themfromfuture violations; to
of fer opportunities for rehabilitation, when
appropriate; and to deter other applicants
or licensees fromviolations.

(2) Violations and Range of Penalties.
I n i nposing discipline upon applicants and
| i censees, in proceedings pursuant to
Section 120.57(1) and 120.57(2), F.S., the
Board shall act in accordance with the
foll owi ng disciplinary guidelines and shal
i npose a penalty within the range

20



corresponding to the violations set forth
bel ow. The verbal identification of

of fenses are descriptive only; the ful

| anguage of each statutory provision cited
must be consulted in order to determ ne the
conduct i ncl uded.

28. Florida Adm nistrative Code Rule 64B8-8.001(2) goes on
to provide, in pertinent part, that the penalty guideline for a
vi ol ati on of Section 458.331(1)(c), Florida Statutes, where the
crime involves healthcare fraud in dollar anobunts in excess of
$5, 000, is revocation of the license and an adm nistrative fine
of $10, 000.

29. Florida Adnm nistrative Code Rule 64B8-8. 001(3)
provides that, in applying the penalty guidelines, the follow ng
aggravating and mtigating circunstances are to be taken into
account:

(3) Aggravating and Mtigating
Circunst ances. Based upon consi deration of
aggravating and mtigating factors present
in an individual case, the Board may deviate
fromthe penalties reconmended above. The
Board shall consider as aggravating or
mtigating factors the foll ow ng:

(a) Exposure of patient or public to
injury or potential injury, physical or
ot herwi se: none, slight, severe, or death;

(b) Legal status at the tinme of the
of fense: no restraints, or |ega
constraints;

(c) The nunber of counts or separate
of fenses est abl i shed,

(d) The nunber of tines the same of fense
or of fenses have previously been conmtted
by the |icensee or applicant;

(e) The disciplinary history of the
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applicant or licensee in any jurisdiction
and the length of practice;

(f) Pecuniary benefit or self-gain
inuring to the applicant or |icensee;

(g) The involvenent in any violation of
Section 458.331, F.S., of the provision of
control |l ed substances for trade, barter or
sale, by a licensee. In such cases, the
Board wil|l deviate fromthe penalties
recomended above and i npose suspension or
revocation of |icensure.

(h) \Where a licensee has been charged
with violating the standard of care pursuant
to Section 458.331(1)(t), F.S., but the
licensee, who is also the records owner
pursuant to Section 456.057(1), F.S., fails
to keep and/or produce the nedical records.

(i) Any other relevant mtigating
factors.

30. Dr. Zanora has correctly argued that there are
mtigating circunmstances which should be considered: no patient
suffered actual or potential injury fromany nedical treatnent;
Dr. Zanora has no prior disciplinary history; he was only
involved in the conspiracy for a short period (although his
i nvol venent was ended by the Indictnent); no controlled
substances were involved; and no violation of the standard of
care is involved. On the other hand, the pecuniary gain to Dr.
Zanora was high and the harmto the public was great, given the
fact that he was required to nmake restitution of $221, 726. 96.
That is, noney that he was personally responsible for defrauding
the public. Additionally, he engaged in a conspiracy in which

others bil ked the public out of any greater sunms of npney.
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Finally, his action erodes the public's confidence and trust in
Dr. Zanora, as well as the nedical profession in general.

31. In Petitioner's Proposed Recormended Order, the
Department has suggested that Dr. Zanora's license to practice
medi ci ne be revoked and he be assessed a fine of $10, 000. 00
This recormendation is well within the guidelines and, but for
the inposition of the $10,000.00 fines, is appropriate in this
case, given Dr. Zanora's betrayal of the public trust. A
$5,000.00 fine, given Dr. Zanora's restitution of the funds he
defrauded from Medicare and his ultimate | oss of |ivelihood as a
physician, is recommended.

RECOMVVENDATI ON

Based on the foregoing Findings of Fact and Concl usi ons of
Law, it is

RECOMVENDED t hat the a final order be entered by the Board
of Medicine finding that Edgar Zanora, M D., has viol ated
Section 458.331(1)(c), Florida Statutes (2005), as described in
this Recomended Order; requiring that he pay an adm nistrative
fine of $5,000.00; and revoking his license to practice nedicine

in the State of Flori da.
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DONE AND ENTERED this 20th day of July, 2007, in

Tal | ahassee, Leon County,

COPI ES FURNI SHED

Di ane K. Kiesling

Assi st ant Gener al

O fice of the Genera
Prosecution Services Unit
Departnent of Health
4052 Bal d Cypress Wy,
Tal | ahassee, Florida

Benedi ct P. Kuehne,
Sal e & Kuehne, P. A
BankAneri ca Tower,

100 Sout heast Second Street
Mam , Florida 33331-2156

Larry MPherson,

Board of Medi ci ne
Department of Health
4052 Bal d Cypress Wy

Fl ori da.

LARRY J. SARTIN

Adm ni strative Law Judge

Di vi sion of Adm nistrative Hearings
The DeSot o Buil di ng

1230 Apal achee Par kway

Tal | ahassee, Florida 32399-3060
(850) 488-9675  SUNCOM 278-9675
Fax Filing (850) 921-6847

www. doah. state. fl. us

Filed with the Cerk of the
Di vision of Adm nistrative Hearings
this 20th day of July, 2007.

Bin C65
32399- 3265

Sui te 3550

Executi ve D rector

Tal | ahassee, Florida 32399-3265

24



Dr. Ana M Vianponte Ros, Secretary
Departnent of Health

4052 Bal d Cypress Way, Bin A0O0

Tal | ahassee, Florida 32399-1701

Josefina M Tamayo, Ceneral Counsel
Department of Health

4052 Bal d Cypress Way, Bin A02

Tal | ahassee, Florida 32399-1701

R S. Power, Agency Cerk
Departnment of Health

4052 Bald Cypress Way, Bin A02
Tal | ahassee, Florida 32399-1701

NOTI CE OF RIGHT TO SUBM T EXCEPTI ONS

Al parties have the right to submit witten exceptions within
15 days fromthe date of this recormended order. Any exceptions
to this recommended order should be filed with the agency that
will issue the final order in these cases.
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